#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BLAINE ROSS, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC07-2368

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Blaine Ross was charged in Manatee County with two counts of first degree murder (and one count of robbery) in the deaths of his parents Richard and Kathleen Ross (1/5-6;7/1210-11). The Rosses were bludgeoned to death during their sleep on the night of January 6-7, 2004. The defense moved (and renewed the motion at trial) to suppress Blaine's confession, which was obtained after a series of interrogations by Detective William Waldron (1/94-98;3/471-535;37/2511;41/3155-56;43/3356-57). The trial court denied the motion (except for two very minor aspects)(4/714-72). The trial took place in April 2007 before Circuit Judge Edward Nicholas and a jury. [To comply with page limits, the evidence pertaining to each issue raised is discussed in the argument portion of the brief]. The jury returned verdicts of quilty on each count (7/1277-78;46/3932). After the May 2007 penalty phase, the jury (by 8-4 votes) recommended the death penalty, and on November 16, 2007 Judge Nicholas imposed two death sentences (7/ 1287;49/4418-19;8/1379-1400).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Blaine's confession obtained by Detective Waldron should have been suppressed because (1) it was involuntary; (2) it was the product of a deliberate two-step custodial interrogation designed to circumvent Miranda; and (3) Blaine's invocation of his right to remain silent (after Miranda warnings were belatedly read) was ignored [I,II]. The state's DNA expert was unqualified to testify as to statistical analysis regarding the frequency of a match

[III]. The evidence failed to prove robbery or premeditation [IV]. The judge found an unproven aggravator and ignored uncontroverted evidence that Blaine has a severe mental illness [IV,V]. This is neither among the most aggravated nor least mitigated homicides, and the death penalty is disproportionate [V].

[ISSUE I] THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE THE VIDEOTAPED IN-CUSTODY CONFESSION OBTAINED BY DETECTIVE WALDRON BY MEANS OF MULTIPLE VIOLATIONS OF APPELLANT'S RIGHTS PROTECTED BY THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS

# A. The January $7^{\text{th}}$ and $8^{\text{th}}$ Interrogations

After Blaine (accompanied by his girlfriend Erin) discovered his parents' bodies and Detective Waldron responded to the scene, Blaine expressed concern about the media cameras and wanted to know if they could talk someplace else. Waldron suggested the Criminal Investigation Division, to which Blaine agreed (22/388-91). A brief interview, which was nonconfrontational and information-gathering, began at 2:49 p.m. and ended at 3:25 p.m. (22/395-420, State Exh. 8 in suppression hearing; 41/3165-93, State Exh. 40-A at trial). [No Miranda warnings were given; however, undersigned counsel concedes that Blaine was not in custody for Miranda purposes during this first session of interrogation]. After the interview, while Blaine and Waldron were outside smoking, Blaine admitted that during the past few days he had used marijuana and Xanax and consumed alcohol; as a result his mind was little fuzzy and he couldn't clearly remember everything. He also admitted (having previously stated otherwise) that his relationship with Erin, who was 16, was sexual (22/420-22,396). Waldron assured him he wasn't concerned about those things; the purpose of the interview was to investigate how and why his parents were killed (22/420-22).

For the next four hours Blaine remained in the CID building; according to Waldron he was "free to roam around" and there were no physical barriers to his leaving (22/423-25). A second interview, conducted by Detective Waldron (with Detective Schue present) in the same conference room, began at 7:41 p.m. and ended at 8:27 p.m. (22/426-27;23/433-69, State Exh. 9 in suppression hearing; 42/3203-37, State Exh. 41-A at trial). Waldron began the interview by telling Blaine there were some discrepancies and conflicting statements between his and Erin's accounts of their activities today and yesterday, and he wanted to go over some of those things (22/435). [Again, no Miranda warnings were given, and again the undersigned concedes that Blaine was not in custody during the second interrogation session]. During this interview, Blaine told Waldron that on the night of the 6<sup>th</sup> and early morning of the 7<sup>th</sup> he and Erin had been with friends, including Mikey Young. When Blaine dropped Mikey off at his house around 3:00 a.m., the door was locked and Mikey didn't have his keys. Blaine and Mikey smoked a joint, then went back to Erin's house, where Mikey tried to call his parents to get them to unlock the door. While waiting they smoked more pot. Mikey's stepdad Glenn eventually called back to Erin's house. Blaine talked to Glenn, then gave Mikey the phone; after that Blaine drove Mikey home. Then he came right back to Erin's and crawled into bed with her (23/436,443-46).

After the second interview ended at 8:27 p.m., Blaine re-

mained in the common area at CID, at the round table where the newspapers are. According to Waldron, he and Blaine went outside the building several times that evening between the second and third interrogation sessions. Blaine was not physically restrained during these breaks but Waldron was always with him (23/469-73). Waldron testified that during one of those cigarette breaks, Blaine asked him whether he could go home that night. Waldron replied that since his house was a crime scene he could not go there, and the same was true of his car. Waldron suggested he try to make arrangements to stay with his grandmother, and appellant said maybe he could sleep at Erin's house (23/473).

The interrogation resumed at 11:53 p.m., again conducted by Waldron with Schue present (23/474-584, State Exh. 11-A,B,C in suppression hearing; 42/3246-3349, State Exh. 42-A at trial). [Again no Miranda warnings were given; undersigned counsel asserts that Blaine was subjected to custodial interrogation as this third interview progressed, but the main focus of his argument is on the fourth and climactic interrogation session which took place on January 9, 2004].

At the outset, Waldron asked Blaine if there was anything he'd like to change or clarify, because "there are some things here that deeply bother me about what you told me today", and it was "getting ridiculous at this point" that his story didn't match up with Erin's or Mikey's (23/478-79). Waldron asked Blaine if he'd submit to a DNA swab; Blaine agreed to provide one (and an oral swab was taken later during the session)(23/484,544). Waldron commented to Blaine that "it's almost as if you're totally de-

tached from the death of your parents", and "I'm tired of hearing the drugs as an excuse for why you can't remember" (23/488-89). They then began discussing Blaine's relationship with his parents, who were in the process of divorcing because his dad had cheated on his mom. Blaine said his relationship with his mom was fine, but "[m]y dad on the other hand...I didn't have a real father/son relationship with him. ... I care about my dad, and I love my dad, but...he taught me one thing and did another. And...that makes me mad, because it taught me wrong." When Waldron pointed out that his dad had a good job and didn't do drugs, Blaine said, "Right, but he also taught me to be loyal and to - - like family blood thicker than water, but he'll still go out and have sex with some black lady." Asked if he was mad at his dad, Blaine said, "I'm mad at my dad for cheating on my mom, because he ruined something that was perfectly fine", but people are human and they're going to make mistakes (23/490-92).

Shortly thereafter, the interrogation became more pointed:

WALDRON: Blaine.

BLAINE: Yes.

WALDRON: Why did this happen to your parents?

BLAINE: I don't know.

WALDRON: You don't know or you don't remember? (23/497-

98)

Waldron told Blaine it wasn't a burglary; "[y]our parents are dead". This was a homicide, an act of rage, either "spur of the moment heated rage" or "cold premeditated" (23/499-500). Blaine said "I see where you guys are going with this", but "I could never be that mad at my parents" (23/500).

As the interrogation continued, Blaine manifested his awareness that he was being accused of his parents' murders: "I can see it in your eyes, I can see it in his [Schue's] eyes." "...I mean that's how you guys are treating me, and you're treating me like I'm a murderer" (23/509-10). When Waldron said it made no sense for Blaine to have tried the credit card at the Circle K (see 23/463,496-97) after the bank told him the PIN number had been changed, appellant said "that was stupid." Walron rejoined:

Yeah, it's stupid, it kind of shot your whole alibi all to hell.

BLAINE: I don't have an alibi.

WALDRON: You're exactly right, you don't have an alibi. (23/512).

Waldron suggested that sometimes things happen, "things get heated, you lose control, and you don't mean to." "Or something very traumatic happens and you block out something" (23/522-23). Waldron continued in this vein:

There's times where people can get very upset over something that's been blowing up inside, and in the heat of the moment do something. And there's also times where somebody can cold calculate or premeditated do something. And there's some huge differences there.

BLAINE: Uh-huh.

WALDRON: Okay, if something happens because of an argument or something just triggers something, you have a poor sense of judgment because you're high or you're intoxicated or something like that, and something happens — does it lessen what happened? To an extent, but it can kind of explain. We pretty much know here what happened, what we're trying to understand is why.

BLAINE: So does that mean I'm under arrest?

WALDRON: Blaine, you don't have handcuffs on, you're not

BLAINE: Well -

WALDRON: Has anybody said you're under arrest?

BLAINE: No, but you guys just said that you know what's going on here and that you want to understand.

WALDRON: We do know what's going on. What we're trying to understand from you is why.

BLAINE: I'm trying to help you guys - I'm trying to help you guys. I know you guys don't want to be sitting here either.

WALDRON: Why did this happen?

BALINE: I don't know.

WALDRON: I think you do know. (23/523-24)

Blaine said again that he felt the detectives had made him a suspect, and "you won't let me leave." Waldron said, "Did you ask to leave?", and Blaine said, "No, but I'm pretty sure that I can't" (23/527; see 23/529-32; 27/1006, 1011; 42/3298; 4/738). "And I'm not going to walk all the way home neither. Well, I mean if it comes down to it, but" (23/527). Waldron did not inform appellant that he was free to terminate the interview and leave (neither when he said he didn't think he could leave, nor during the cigarette break which immediately followed) (23/527-29,532). [Waldron testified in the suppression hearing that when a suspect raises the issue of not feeling free to leave, "then you're to clarify or tell them, you know, to answer their question" (27/1058). However, since Blaine did not express it in the form of a question, but rather in the form of a statement ("[Y]ou won't let me leave" and "I'm pretty sure that I can't"), Waldron felt no obligation to clarify his situation (27/1059)].

After this cigarette break (still without Miranda warnings), Waldron showed Blaine crime scene photographs of the dead bodies

of his parents in their bed (23/535-37;27/1084), and informed him (falsely) "We have a witness that places your car at the house at 1:30 in the morning, between 1 and 1:30 in the morning." He told Blaine that a neighbor was out walking his dog and saw Blaine's car at the house at 1:30 ("[d]escribes your car to a tee") and that the neighbor had given a sworn affidavit saying so (23/535-38). Blaine asked to flip the crime scene photographs over because he didn't like looking at them; Waldron replied "These were your parents" and asked Blaine to explain the witness' observation (23/537). Blaine said the person must be wrong, and insisted he was nowhere near his house around that time; he was at Erin's and at Mikey's (23/538).

[In the suppression hearing, Waldron acknowledged that he lied to Blaine about a number of things (27/1064). Waldron equivocated on whether he'd lied when he told Blaine a witness had seen his car at the house between 1:00 and 1:30 a.m., based on the fact that during a police canvass of the neighborhood somebody thought they'd seen Blaine's car the night prior to the murder at 11:30 and somebody else had thought they'd seen his car "at 6:00 in the morning or it could have been earlier or it could have been later in the day." Each of these people (in addition to saying 11:30 or 6:00 rather than 1:00 or 1:30) reported that they were not even sure they were talking about the same day, and Waldron agreed that he "didn't have anything firm", but he took umbrage at the suggestion that he "outright lied." Defense counsel called Waldron's attention to his telling Blaine that the witness who'd (supposedly) placed his car at the house between 1:00 and 1:30 had given a

sworn affidavit, and asked Waldron if that was a lie; Waldron replied "I don't remember" (27/1065-66)].

In interrogating Blaine (at that point and later in the January 8 and January 9 sessions), Waldron repeatedly confronted him with the detective's own made-up time frame: "It's not like we're talking a ten-hour period. We're talking about a one-hour period now" (23/538). Blaine asked Waldron (as he did several times throughout the interviews) to do him a favor; to call Mikey's house and talk to Glenn and ask him what time he called Erin's house, to confirm that it was after 3:00 a.m. when he drove Mikey home from Erin's. Blaine continued to insist that he was not out at 1:30. Waldron told Blaine (falsely) that Mikey had said it was around 1:00 a.m. when Blaine finally took him home, and that Mikey was "adamant that he had to be at work 6:00 in the morning, and there's no way he got home at 3 or 4:00.... Waldron added, "All of a sudden he's mistaken now, and you're right, because you have no recollection of times?" (23/539-40). When Blaine said, "Mikey is mistaken, he is two hours premature. I swear", Waldron countered, "How can you be so sure about that but can't be sure about anything else?" (23/541, see 558,563-67).

[In actuality, Waldron had interviewed Mikey Young a few hours earlier (sometime between the 7:41 p.m. and 11:53 p.m. interrogation sessions), and Waldron knew that the time frame Mikey gave was pretty close to Blaine's (23/471-74;42/3571-73)].

Throughout the rest of the interview, Waldron confronted Blaine with the fabricated dog-walking witness, and challenged Blaine's contrary recollection because of his substance abuse.

["But yet you're very adamant that it was 3, 3:30 in the morning. You take somebody that's out walking their dog at 1:30 in the morning, who are not using any drugs, they're not drunk, they remember what time it is")(23/558,see 545,546,550-51,556,564).

After the oral DNA swab was taken, Waldron resumed, "As I was telling you earlier, we already know what happened. We want to know why"; and he added, "And things do not look good for you" (23/544). If there was any doubt in Blaine's mind as to what Waldron "already knew", Waldron elaborated:

What happened was you were pissed off that your parents aren't going to give you any more money. You go over there in a fit of rage, and you brutally kill your parents, you take your mom's ATM card, and you go to the bank today and you twice try to use it. (23/546)

Waldron told Blaine, "You're not doing much here to help you out" (23/547). On that note, Waldron then raised the spectre of the death penalty, and how perhaps it might be avoided:

...[T]hings happened for various reasons. You lose your cool because you're upset, spur of the moment. That's a lot different than cold-blooded premeditated doing something.

BLAINE: Okay.

WALDRON: If you got pissed off because they wouldn't loan you any money, you were mad, you were high, you weren't in control of your senses, then that changes things. People do some stupid stuff when they're intoxicated or high.

BLAINE: I will agree with you on that statement.

WALDRON: So it's pretty clear what happened, but it still doesn't explain why. And the why it happened can be the difference between the death penalty or some time in prison or some other type of thing. And that's what it comes down to now. We know what happened, what we're not clear about is why, and only you can tell us why.

(23/549)

Blaine continued to assert his innocence; "I know I didn't do

it. And I know that I didn't get high and get in a fit of rage and not know what I was doing and drive to my house and do that."

Waldron replied, "How are you so sure of that when you can't remember a lot of other things" (23/552). He told Blaine it was time for him to take responsibility for himself and his actions and stop blaming it on the drugs" (23/555). "...[T]he guy out walking his dog at 1:30 in the morning, is he lying, when he says he saw your vehicle there at the house?" (23/556).

Waldron again made it clear to Blaine that the detectives were certain of his guilt; "We've been saying it, you killed your parents" (23/559). Blaine continued to deny involvement, and Waldron continued to challenge his memory and his credibility; "You've done everything there is to point the finger right at yourself" and "...[Y]ou've lied so much that you don't know what the truth is anymore" (23/559,563,567-68,578).

Waldron reiterated to Blaine that from his years of experience this was not a burglary, but rather it was "up close, personal"; it "reeks of somebody full of rage, spur of the moment, full of rage, not very well planned." When Blaine said, "I'm not calling you a liar, I know you went to school for all this...", Waldron interrupted, "You're in no position to call anybody a liar, even to imply" (23/581). Blaine again asked Waldron to check the phone records to confirm the time of Glenn's call, and said "I don't know what to say about that, a person that saw a blue Town Car parked out ...in front of my house" (23/582). Waldron assured him "We'll be checking more than phone records, I can guarantee you that" (23/582).

Waldron ended the interview at 2:36 a.m. Blaine was allowed to leave the CID building at that time, with the understanding that he would stay at Erin's or, if that didn't work out, he'd call his grandmother or Mikey (23/582-84).

Erin's mother allowed Blaine to spend what was left of the night, and Waldron drove him there. Shortly thereafter, Blaine called and left messages on Waldron's voice mail to the effect that he had some questions regarding some of the things that had been brought up, and that he'd checked the caller ID as to when Mikey's father Glenn had called and "I was right, it was 3:25 a.m. in the morning, and ...everybody else is wrong about the time" (23/585-90,see 24/614).

## B. The January 9<sup>th</sup> Interrogation (Unwarned Portion)

On January 9, Blaine's sister Kim drove him down to the CID office to meet with victim advocate Susie Brown about a voucher to obtain shoes (his own tennis shoes and boots having been confiscated), and because he was unhappy about what had been printed in the newspaper and wanted to clear it up (20/14-15,18,31-33;23/591-92). Upon his arrival, Detective Waldron told him he'd gotten his messages and (once he was finished at Ms. Brown's office) he would be happy to meet with him and talk to him again (23/592).

Regarding what later took place on January 9<sup>th</sup>, Detective Waldron testified that he believed this would be his last chance to interrogate Blaine (28/1105;44/3549). Unlike the earlier sessions (which were audiotaped), the January 9 interview was conducted in a small, windowless second-floor room equipped with a video camera mounted high on the wall (23/592;20/19;45/3598-99). Asked about

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