IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BLAINE ROSS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC07-2368 L.T. No. 2004-CF-106

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court's finding that Ross was not in custody prior to waiving his Miranda rights has been fully explored. The finding that Ross did not confess prior to Miranda is not contested on appeal. The facts noted by Ross to suggest that Waldron deliberately used an improper interrogation technique — that Waldron assumed this would be his last opportunity to question Ross and that Sheriff Wells had indicated he was counting on Waldron to "get closure," before the interview, which Wells and others observed, began — do not support the conclusion which Ross draws regarding Waldron's intent.

Absent an officer's subjective intent to undermine the efficacy of the Miranda warnings, <u>Seibert</u> does not require suppression of statements obtained after Miranda rights have been waived. <u>See Seibert</u>, 542 U.S. at 618-22 (Kennedy, J., concurring); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 990 So. 2d 459, 466 (Fla. 2008) (adopting Justice Kennedy's test). As the record demonstrates

that no <u>Seibert</u> violation occurred in this case, no relief is warranted.

3. Invocation of Miranda rights

In addition, Ross contends that he invoked his right to remain silent after being given his Miranda warnings. Ross identifies his statements, "I don't think I can help you anymore. I don't think I have anything else to say" at approximately 7:36 pm amounted to an unequivocal request to end the interview. The trial court rejected this claim as follows:

The Court does not agree with Defendant that he invoked his rights after Waldron read them to him. ... [i]f warnings have been given, individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 473-74. Police, however, are under no obligation to clarify an ambiquous or equivocal "A suspect must articulate his desire to assertion. cut off questioning with sufficient clarity that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be an assertion of the right to remain silent." State v. Owen, 696 So. 715, 718 (Fla. 1997). See Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452 (1994). "If the statement is ambiguous or equivocal, then the police have no duty to clarify the suspect's intent, and they may proceed with the interrogation." Id. (defendant's statements rather not talk about it" and "I don't want to talk about it" were equivocal). After he was advised of his rights, Defendant stated "I don't - I can't tell you anything different," and "I don't think I can help you anymore. I don't think I have anything else to say." Neither of these, however, was an unambiguous assertion of his right to remain silent. See, e.g., Kyser v. State, 522 So. 2d 285, 286 (Fla. 1988) (noting that "I think I might need an attorney" and "I think I want to talk to a lawyer before I talk about

that" were equivocal requests). Taken in context, it is clear that Defendant's comments meant that he was willing to talk to the detectives, but that he could not offer any different information. See Rodriguez v. State, 559 So. 2d 392, 393 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) ("Yes, but I really don't have anything else to say" not an invocation of right to remain silent). Under Owen, the detectives had no obligation to clarify Defendant's statements, and could continue talking to him.

(4/758-59) (footnotes omitted) (emphasis in original).

As the trial court found, Ross's statements, "I don't think I can help you anymore" and "I don't think I have anything else to say," were classic equivocal comments. Ross claims that use of the word "think" did not render the statements equivocal, and that "any reasonable officer" would take the statement, absent the word "think," to be an unequivocal request to end the interview.

Actually, the statement "I really don't have anything else to say," was found insufficient to invoke a right to silence in Rodriguez v. State, 559 So. 2d 392, 393 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); see also State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715, 718 (Fla. 1997) (defendant's statements, "I'd rather not talk about it" and "I don't want to talk about it" were equivocal); Walker v. State, 957 So. 2d 560, 574 (Fla. 2007) ("I think I might want to talk to an attorney" was equivocal).

The court below did find, as the State conceded, that Ross unequivocally invoked his right to silence later in the

interview, when he said, "I really don't want to talk anymore" (4/760). The few statements made after that invocation were therefore suppressed.

The record fully supports the trial court's rejection of Ross's claim that his confession was subject to suppression due to any Miranda violation. No relief is warranted on this issue.

B. Voluntariness of statements

Ross's final sub-issue as to his January 9 videotaped statements asserts that his suppression motion should have been granted because his statements involuntary. Не were acknowledges that an involuntary statement can only be the product of coercive conduct on the part of the police, Colorado v. Connelley, 479 U.S. 157, 163-67 (1986), and identifies the coercive conduct in this case to be deception and manipulation employed when Det. Waldron allegedly (1) misrepresented the evidence on a number of critical matters, by telling Ross that a witness placed his car at his parents' house at 1:00 am; that the blood on Ross's pants tied him to the crime scene; and that witnesses had said Ross was wearing the pants on the night of the murders, and (2) used psychologically coercive techniques, including "minimization;" raising the specter of the death penalty; and accusing Ross of "dragging his friends down with him" (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 68-74). The court below

properly determined that Ross's statements were not coerced but voluntary.

The court entered the following findings on the issue of voluntariness:

his Defendant arques that confession was involuntary and coerced by law enforcement, and in states (1) support thereof the detectives Defendant had ingested drugs "that had a negative effect on his memory"; (2) he told the detectives that he was confused about several aspects of the time the discovery of the bodies; preceding (3) detectives confronted him with false evidence - blood that matched the crime scene on his pants, Erin seeing him wearing those pants on the day of the homicides, and they had a witness swearing they saw his car at the Ross home; (4) the detectives intimidated him, and psychologically; physically (5) "skillfully detectives exploited [Defendant's] vulnerabilities and. . . insecurities, " including his feelings about his father, his concern for Erin, and perceived shortcomings about not being Defendant's expert, Dr. DeClue, independent adult. testified at length as to this issue.

Defendant relies on State v. Sawyer, 561 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), in which the Second DCA found the defendant's confession to be involuntary where it was the product of enforced sleeplessness resulting from a 16-hour serial interrogation during which the defendant had no meaningful breaks, police asked him misleading questions, denied his requests to rest, refused to honor his Miranda rights and used the defendant's history of blackouts to undermine his reliance on his own memory. See Brewer v. State, 386 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 1980) (finding confession to be involuntary where police threatened the defendant with the electric chair, implying that they had power to reduce the charge against him and that his confession would lead to lesser charge).

The Court does not find that the circumstances of this interview rise to the level as the interview in Sawyer. Not only did law enforcement tell Defendant to tell the truth, but his sister did too. In fact,

during their 12-minute meeting, Defendant's sister specifically told him "If you did it, then say you did it. But if you didn't do it, do not let them talk you into it. There is nothing in the interviews that indicate that Defendant was coerced or intimidated into confessing to this crime. The Court has discussed at great length the salient features of the interviews and finds that the interviews, when taken as a whole, do not suggest that law enforcement engaged in coercion or intimidation.

(4/760-62).

Once again the court below properly denied the motion to suppress with regard to this issue. While Ross maintains that his confession was coerced because the police wore him down and caused him to doubt his own memory, Waldron hardly needed to "encourage [Ross] to doubt his own memory" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 71). Ross repeatedly told Waldron that his memory was fuzzy from his drug use, starting with the first cigarette break shortly after 3:30 on Jan. 7 (22/421), Ross concedes he was not even in custody yet at that time. Clearly, Ross's doubts about his ability to trust his own memory were not the product of any coercive conduct by Waldron.

In addition, Waldron's telling Ross that the blood on his pants matched the crime scene did not vitiate the voluntariness of Ross's statements. While Waldron only knew at the time that there was blood on the pants, as the FDLE testing revealing that it did indeed match the crime scene was not yet available,

Waldron hardly misled Ross about the evidence. Even if his representation of a match to the scene was premature, this falls far short of the type of misrepresentation that could induce an involuntary confession. Compare Fitzpatrick, 900 So. 2d at 511 (false evidence suggesting that police had satellite image of defendant with victim did not result in coerced confession); Escobar v. State, 699 So. 2d 988, 994 (Fla. 1997) (police misrepresentations do not necessarily render a confession involuntary; trial court properly rejected claim of coercion where detectives falsely stated they had obtained physical evidence).

Any doubts Ross expressed about his participation in his parents' murders were not induced by law enforcement, but arose from his own "apprehension, mental state, or lack of factual knowledge," and therefore his subsequent confession was not coerced. Wyche v. State, 987 So. 2d 23, 29 (Fla. 2008) (addressing voluntary nature of consent); Thomas v. State, 456 So. 2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1984).

The court below properly distinguished <u>State v. Sawyer</u>, 561 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), finding that the circumstances of Ross's interview did not rise to the level discussed in <u>Sawyer</u> (4/761); Ross's continued reliance on that case is misplaced. Similarly, the other cases he cites are not factually

comparable. The issue of voluntariness must be determined from the totality of the circumstances. <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, 900 So. 2d at 511. The totality of the circumstances in this case demonstrate that Ross's confession was voluntary and not coerced. Thus, no relief is warranted on Ross's claim that his confession was coerced and involuntary.

C. Harmless error

Moreover, any possible error in the admission of Ross's statements to Waldron would be harmless. Ross has made his confession the centerpiece of his appeal, just the defense below centered on the unreliability of Ross's confession. However, the confession was clearly not the centerpiece of the State's case. Rather, as outlined in the Statement of the Case and Facts, the most incriminating evidence against Ross involved his own actions and comments to others. His most damaging statement was telling Barbara Curtis at the credit union that his mother had gone out of town, and he needed to know the new PIN number for the ATM.

The prosecutor's argument focused on this and other circumstantial evidence which conclusively pointed to Ross as the perpetrator of these murders. In addition, the unchallenged statements which Ross made to Waldron early on Jan. 7 are conflicting and inconsistent with the other known facts. With

the DNA on Ross's pants to confirm the obvious, the State had a solid case even without Ross's confession.

brief makes much of the Ross's fact that the jury specifically requested the videotape and equipment to defeat any suggestion of harmless error. However, just because the jury considered evidence, does not establish that such evidence affected the verdict, and this Court should not speculate that The jury's examination of the videotape simply demonstrates that the jury carefully considered Ross's defense. Ross's expert, Dr. DeClue, and his attorney, in her closing argument, made repeated references to observations they had made with regard to the video (45/3699-3743; 46/3804-62). hardly surprising that the jury would want to review the video again after hearing these observations to make sure that they were not being hasty in rushing to find guilt.

As Ross has pointed out, the confession provides no basis for finding this murder was planned, and suggests that any property was only taken as an afterthought. Ross did not provide any information which law enforcement did not already know or suspect, and his statements did not lead to the retrieval of any additional physical evidence. On these facts, any possible error in the admission of his confession was

clearly harmless. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE APPELLANT'S JANUARY 12, 2004 STATEMENTS TO DETECTIVE WALDRON.

Ross next asserts that the trial court improperly denied his motion to suppress his January 12, 2004 statements. The admissibility of these statements was also addressed at the suppression hearing (4/762-71). Once again, the trial court's factual findings are presumed correct and reviewed for competent, substantial evidentiary support; the mixed questions of law and fact are independently reviewed. <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, 900 So. 2d at 510; Rolling, 695 So. 2d at 292.

The testimony is undisputed that Det. Waldron spoke with Ross at the jail on January 12 after Ross's sister, Kim, advised Waldron that Ross wanted to speak with him (4/762; 44/3523). Ross wanted to offer some information about drug dealers, to see if he could make a deal to improve his situation (4/762-63). The court below granted, in part, the defense motion to suppress the Jan. 12 interview, suppressing a brief exchange after Waldron brought up the continuing search for the items Ross claimed to have thrown off the bridge (4/768-69).

Ross asserts, however, that Waldron's post-Miranda questioning admitted at trial (1) violated <u>Missouri v. Seibert</u>, 542 U.S. 600 (2004), by employing an improper "question-first"

strategy, and (2) was inadmissible under <u>Oregon v. Elstad</u>, 470 U.S. 298 (1985), as the direct product of coerced and involuntary statements made on January 9.

The court below specifically found that Ross initiated the with Waldron, and that his Miranda rights voluntarily waived prior to the Jan. 12 statements which were admitted (4/766-69). The court's findings are well supported by the evidence presented at the suppression hearing. evidence which supports Ross's claim that Det. intentionally elicited statements about the baseball bat used in the attack for the purpose of minimizing Ross's Miranda rights.

Ross asserts, without providing any analysis, that all of the factors for consideration in <u>Seibert</u> demonstrate that an improper "question-first" technique was used (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 86). However, the pre-Miranda comments were brief, and while both the before and after Miranda statements dealt generally with the recovery of the baseball bat and purse, additional details from Ross's January 9 statements were discussed in the later interview (4/762-66).

Similarly, the suggestion that the January 12 statement should have been suppressed due to taint from the January 9 confession was properly denied. There was a clear break from the January 9 interview, in time, place, and content. In

<u>Elstad</u>, 470 U.S. at 310-11, the Court held that if "careful and thorough administration" of the warnings are later given, and constitutional rights are thereafter waived, any further statements may properly be used against the defendant. The facts of this case fit squarely within this principle; Ross's rights were carefully explained to him and voluntarily waived before he made the statements which were admitted into evidence. See also Davis v. State, 698 So. 2d 1182, 1187-89 (Fla. 1997) (although untaped statement, provided in the absence of Miranda warnings, should have been excluded, the second, taped statement was properly admitted).

Furthermore, any possible error would clearly be harmless. Ross did not make any additional incriminating statements in this interview, he simply reaffirmed his prior statement that he had thrown the bat and other items off of the bridge (44/3526-31). In light of the other overwhelming evidence presented, these brief statements added little to the State's case, and did not affect the jury verdict. No new trial is warranted.

ISSUE III

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